I. INTRODUCTION 


Superior Court Judge Brian P. Altman's oral decision in this matter 

encapsulates the issue before this Court: 

Gentlemen, I have been back and forth through the 
various statutes many times since the argument and I've 
read your briefs several times, and I am left with the 
impression that the legislature has left us with a 
muddle. 

(VRP 5). 

This case involves the interpretation of the phrase "person, firm, or 

corporation" as used in RCW 76.04.495. By its express terms, the statute 

authorizes a cause of action for Respondent, the Washington State 

Department of Natural Resources ("DNR") to pursue recovery of the costs 

it expends in fire suppression from "[a]ny person, firm, or corporation 

whose negligence is responsible for the starting or existence of a fire 

which spreads on forest land[.]" RCW 76.04.495(1). Because RCW 

76.04.495 is in derogation of common law, it should be strictly construed. 

The stated enforcement mechanism of RCW 76.04.495 is a property 

lien. Specifically, RCW 76.04.495(2) states that DNR "shall have a 

lien ... against any property of the person, firm, or corporation liable under 

subsection 1 of this section ... " For the purposes of this statute, a "person, 

firm, or corporation" must be an entity which is legally capable of having 
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a lien placed upon its property. As RCW 76.04.495 creates a lien right and 

is in derogation ofcommon law, it should be strictly construed. 

In the present case, DNR alleges that Appellant, Public Utility District 

No. 1 of Klickitat County ("KPUD"), failed to identify and remove a 

green tree that was located outside of KPUD's right of way before high 

winds caused part of the tree to fall onto a power line, causing the 

Highway 8 Fire. DNR brought suit against KPUD pursuant to RCW 

76.04.495, seeking the costs of fire suppression it alleges it incurred. 

KPUD is a municipal corporation, organized under RCW 54.04.020. 

As a municipal corporation, KPUD's property is public property, which, 

under Washington law, is not subject to liens. 

Since, under RCW 76.04.495 a "person, firm, or corporation" must be 

an entity legally capable of having liens placed upon its property, this 

phrase should not be construed to include municipal corporations, because 

public entities are not capable of having liens placed upon their property. 

Under the Forest Protection Act, RCW 76.04 et seq., when the Legislature 

intended to include municipal/public corporations and political 

subdivisions within the ambit of the statute, those entities were 

specifically named in the statute. 

Moreover, the legislative history of the Forest Protection Act 

demonstrates that the Legislature has not intended to include municipal 
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corporations and political subdivisions under RCW 76.04.495. The 

pertinent language of RCW 76.04.495 has been in place for approximately 

ninety years. Less than ten (10) years after the statute was enacted, the 

Legislature authorized and created public utility districts. Over the next 

eighty years, the Legislature revisited and revised the language of RCW 

76.04.495 a number of times, and each time has not modified the "person, 

firm, or corporation" language. In that same period of time, the Legislature 

has enacted and modified other statutes within the Forest Protection Act 

which either include other modifiers to the phrase "person, firm, or 

corporation," or which demonstrate the Legislature's awareness and intent 

that the provisions of the Forest Protection Act which involve liens do not 

apply to municipal corporations and political subdivisions. 

Pursuant to strict construction, the phrase "person, firm, or 

corporation" in RCW 76.04.495 should not be construed to include 

municipal I public corporations. Municipal I public corporations not being 

within the ambit of the statute, DNR lacks statutory authority to proceed 

with an RCW 76.04.495 claim against KPUD. The issue before the Court 

is not whether a municipal corporation such as KPUD can be sued under 

any circumstances, but rather whether KPUD can be sued under the 

narrowly construed terms ofRCW 76.04.495. 
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Because the statutory language ofRCW 76.04.495 does not explicitly 

authorize suit against a municipal corporation or political subdivision, it 

does not provide a cause of action for DNR against KPUD under the facts 

alleged in DNR's complaint. 

KPUD respectfully requests that the Court reverse the trial court's 

denial of KPUD's CR 12(b)(6) motion, and dismiss DNR's complaint 

against KPUD. 

II. CERTIFIED QUESTION 

This matter comes before the Court pursuant to the trial court's RAP 

2.3(b)(4) certification of the following question: 

[T]his Court certifies, pursuant to RAP 2.3(b)(4), that this 
order involves a controlling question of law as to which 
there is substantial ground for difference of opinion. The 
question is as follows: 

Whether Plaintiff State of Washington Department of 
Natural Resources has the statutory authority to 
proceed with a fire suppression cost recovery claim 
against Defendant Public Utility District No. 1 of 
Klickitat County under RCW 76.04.495. 

An immediate appeal from this order may materially 
advance the ultimate termination of this litigation. If the 
Court's ruling with respect to Plaintiffs authority to pursue 
a fire suppression cost recovery claim against Defendant is 
ultimately overturned, the claim must be dismissed. Any 
further proceedings before this Court may be useless. 

(CP 72-73). 
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III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


This case involves a fire which DNR alleges started when a high-wind 

event caused part of a green tree located outside of KPUD's right of way 

to fall onto an overhead electrical line. DNR commenced suit against 

KPUD pursuant to RCW 76.04.495, seeking costs alleged to have been 

incurred in fire suppression. 

KPUD moved to dismiss, arguing that RCW 76.04.495 does not 

provide statutory authority for DNR to proceed with a fire suppression 

cost recovery action against a public utility district. 

The trial court denied KPUD's motion, but also certified the proper 

interpretation of the statute to this Court. No Washington cases of record 

interpret the relevant portions of RCW 76.04.495. 1 

A. The Parties 

1. The Department of Natural Resources 

Respondent DNR is an agency of the State of Washington. DNR, 

among other activities, provides the control and suppression of forest fires 

which occur on forest lands in the State of Washington. (CP 81). 

lOne Washington court of record has considered the statute in the context of jury rights 
and evidentiary damages issues, which are inapplicable here. DNR v. Littlejohn, 60 Wn. 
App. 671, 806 P.2d 779 (1991). One federal court has considered RCW 76.04.495 sitting 
in diversity under Washington law, and noted that as the statute is in derogation of the 
common law, it should be strictly construed. United States v. Burlington Northern, inc., 
500 F.2d 637, 639 (9th Cir. 1974). 
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2. 	 KPUD 

Appellant KPUD is a municipal corporation organized and existing 

under the laws of the State of Washington, with its principal place of 

business in Goldendale, Washington. (CP 81). KPUD provides electrical 

power through electrical utility lines to approximately 12,000 constituents 

located throughout Klickitat County, Washington. (CP 81). KPUD owned, 

operated, and maintained the overhead electrical distribution lines which 

are the subject of this litigation. (CP 81). 

B. The Fire 

On August 26, 2010, the Highway 8 Fire started when part of a 

green ponderosa pine tree located outside of KPUD's right of way broke 

off during a high-wind event and fell across a power line owned by 

KPUD. (CP 83-84) The stump of the tree stood about 30 feet from the 

power lines. (ld.) 

C. DNR's Complaint 

DNR brought suit against KPUD on July 2, 2012. (CP 80-87). The 

sole stated cause of action is for "Fire Suppression Cost Recovery under 

RCW 76.04.495." (ld.). DNR seeks a money judgment against KPUD for 

the recovery of fire suppression costs. (Id.). 
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D. KPUD's Motion to Dismiss was Denied 

KPUD brought a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss DNR's RCW 

76.04.495 claim for fire suppression costs on April 18, 2013. (CP 21-23; 

CP 24-45) 

DNR opposed the motion (CP 46-56); a reply was filed (CP 57-71); a 

hearing was conducted; and the trial court issued its oral ruling on June 6, 

2013. (VRP, passim). The trial court denied KPUD's motion, but certified 

the question of statutory interpretation to this Court. (CP 72-73). 

E. 	 Discretionary Review was Granted 

This Court granted review on September 26,2013. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 Standards of Review 

1. 	 The standard of review for a trial court's denial of a CR 12(b)(6) 
motion is de novo 

This matter came before the trial court on KPUD's CR 12(b)(6) 

motion to dismiss. (CP 21-23; CP 24-45). Under CR 12(b)(6), "a 

defendant may move to dismiss where a plaintiff's pleadings do not state a 

claim for which relief can be granted." Mueller v. Miller, 82 Wn. App. 

236, 245-46, 917 P.2d 604 (1996) (citing Danzig v. Danzig, 79 Wn. App. 

612,616,904 P.2d 312 (1995)); Hoffer v. State, 110 Wn.2d 415, 420,755 

P.2d 781 (1988), adhered to on reconsideration, 113 Wn.2d 148, 776 P.2d 

963 (1989). A CR 12(b)(6) order of dismissal is appropriate if "it appears 
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beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts, consistent with 

the complaint, which would entitle the plaintiff to relief." Lawson v. State, 

107 Wn.2d 444, 448, 730 P .2d 1308 (1986) (quoting Bowman v. John Doe 

Two, 104 Wn.2d 181, 183, 704 P.2d 140 (1985)). 

A trial court's decision on a CR 12(b)(6) motion which concerns a 

matter of statutory interpretation is a question of law, which is reviewed 

de novo. See Rimov v. Schultz, CI, 162 Wn. App. 274, 278,253 P.3d 462 

(2011) (citing San Juan County v. No New Gas Tax, 160 Wn.2d 141, 164, 

157 P.3d 831 (2007) and Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft, 165 Wn.2d 

481,488,200 P.3d 683 (2009)). 

2. 	 Matters of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo 

The matter before the Court is one of first impression and addresses 

the interpretation of RCW 76.04.495. The meaning of a statute is a 

question of law reviewed de novo. Jongeward v. BNSF Ry., 174 Wn.2d 

586,592,278 P.3d 157 (2012) (citing State v. Breazeale, 144 Wn.2d 829, 

837,31 P.3d 1155 (2001)); In re Haviland, 177 Wn.2d 68,75,301 P.3d 31 

(2013) (citing Jackowski v. Borchelt, 174 Wn.2d 720, 729, 278 P.3d 1100 

(2012)); City of Seattle v. Burlington N. R.R., 145 Wn.2d 661, 665, 41 

P .3d 1169 (2002). 
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B. Canons of Statutory Construction 

1. 	 Statutes in derogation of the common law, and statutes which 
create new lien rights are strictly construed 

Statutes which create a new cause of action or a lien right are in 

derogation of the common law and are strictly construed. See United 

States v. Burlington Northern, Inc., 500 F.2d at 639 (pursuant to strict 

construction of RCW 76.04.495, the U.S. has no standing to bring suit); 

Lumberman's of Washington, Inc. v. Barnhardt, 89 Wn. App. 283, 286, 

949 P.2d 382 (1997) (statutory rights to liens are strictly construed). 

In United States v. Burlington Northern, Inc., the United States 

brought an action under RCW 76.04 to recover fire suppression costs for a 

forest fire that occurred on Burlington Northern land. The United States 

argued that it could bring the action because it had been subrogated to the 

State's statutory claim either by virtue of a cooperative fire suppression 

agreement with Washington State or by operation of law. The Ninth 

Circuit Court of Appeals disagreed, stating: 

... we start by noting that the statute expressly grants 
a cause of action only to the State of Washington. 
Appellant asserts the right to sue in place of the State 
of Washington where appellant incurs fire 
suppression expenses under its cooperative 
agreement with the State. However, we perceive the 
rule in Washington, as well as the general rule, to 
be that when a statute creates a cause of action not 
recognized at common law, and when, as here, the 
statute expressly states who is entitled to bring the 
action, then that statute is to be read narrowly as 
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to who may sue, and a plaintiff must bring itself 
within the tenns of the statute. 

Id. at 639 (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted). Consequently, the 

Ninth Circuit strictly construed RCW 76.04 and held that the United States 

could not sue under the statute, because it was not the State? 

2. 	 Statutory interpretation 

In interpreting a statute, the court's objective is to ascertain and carry 

out the Legislature's intent. Jongward, 174 Wn.2d at 592 (citing Dep 't of 

Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1,9,43 P.3d 4 (2002)). 

If a statute's meaning is plain on its face, we must give 
effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative 
intent. The plain meaning is discerned from all that the 
Legislature has said in the statute. Plain meaning may also 
be discerned from related statutes which disclose legislative 
intent about the provision in question. An examination of 
related statutes aids our plain meaning analysis because 
legislators enact legislation in light of existing statutes. 

Jongeward, 174 Wn.2d at 595 (internal citations and quotations omitted) 

If a "statute is 'susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations,' 

the statute is ambiguous." Flight Options, LLC v. Dep't ofRevenue, 174 

Wn.2d 487, 500, 259 P.3d 234 (2011) (quoting Burton v. Lehman, 153 

Wn.2d 416, 423, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005)). 

RCW 76.04.495 was amended after the Ninth Circuit's holding to include any fire 
protection agency of the United States. 
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"If a statute remains ambiguous after a plain meaning analysis, it is 

appropriate to resort to interpretive aids, including canons of construction 

and case law." Jongeward, 174 Wn.2d at 600. 

Where a statute contains multiple provisions, the court should 

interpret the statute so as to assign meaning to each provision. State v. 

Merritt, 91 Wn. App. 969, 973, 961 P.2d 958 (1998). Statutes relating to 

the same subject matter should be construed together. See Jongeward, 174 

Wn.2d at 593 (citing Hallauer v. Spectrum Props., Inc., 143 Wn.2d 126, 

146, 18 P.3d 540 (2001». 

Under the principle of noscitur a sociis, "a single word in a statute 

should not be read in isolation." Jongeward at 601 (citing State v. 

Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 623, 106 P.3d 196 (2005». Instead, "the 

meaning ofwords may be indicated or controlled by those with which they 

are associated." Id. (quoting State v. Jackson, 137 Wn.2d 712, 729, 976 

P.2d 1229 (1999». 

"Further, a court must not interpret a statute in any way that renders 

any portion meaningless or superfluous." Jongeward at 602 (citing 

Svendsen v. Stock, 143 Wn.2d 546, 555, 23 P.3d 455 (2001». The 

Legislature is presumed not to include unnecessary language when it 

enacts legislation. See Davis v. State ex rei. Dep't ofLicensing, 137 Wn.2d 

957, 969, 977 P.2d 554 (1999) ("A fundamental canon of construction 
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holds a statute should not be interpreted so as to render one part 

inoperative."); Judd v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 152 Wn.2d 195,202,95 P.3d 

337 (2004) (no portion of a statute shall be rendered meaningless or 

superfluous through interpretation). 

C. 	 The Phrase 'Person, Firm, or Corporation' in RCW 76.04.495 
Does Not Include Municipal JPublic Corporations 

The primary issue before the Court is whether the statutory phrase 

"person, firm, or corporation" includes a municipal corporation. KPUD 

submits that RCW 76.04.495 does not apply to municipal corporations for 

two reasons. First, the statute does not explicitly name "municipal 

corporations" or "public corporations," as do other statutes within RCW 

76.04 et seq. Second, since the statutory enforcement mechanism of a lien 

as provided in RCW 76.04.495(2) cannot be levied against public 

property, the Legislature did not intend to abrogate the long-standing rule 

that no lien may lie against public property. Therefore, the statute cannot 

apply to municipal corporations. 

1. The terms of the statute 

The fire suppression cost recovery statute, RCW 76.04.495, provides: 

(1) Any person, firm, or corporation: (a) Whose 
negligence is responsible for the starting or existence of 
a fire which spreads on forest land ... shall be liable for 
any reasonable expenses made necessary ... The state, a 
municipality, a forest protective association, or any fire 
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protection agency of the United States may recover such 
reasonable expenses ... 
(2) The department or agency incurring such expense shall 
have a lien for the same against any property of the 
person, firm, or corporation liable under subsection (1) 
of this section[.] (emphasis added). 

2. 	 KPUD, as a Public Utility District, is a political subdivision of 
the State of Washington, and a municipal/public corporation 

RCW 54.04.020 provides that "[m]unicipal corporations, to be known 

as public utility districts, are hereby authorized for the purposes of chapter 

I, Laws of 1931, and may be established within the limits of the State of 

Washington, as provided herein." Under RCW 54.12.010, "[a] public 

utility district that is created as provided in RCW 54.08.010 shall be a 

municipal corporation of the state of Washington, and the name of such 

public utility district shall be Public Utility District No of_County." See 

also, Wash. Natural Gas Co. v. Pub. Uti!. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish 

County, 77 Wn.2d 94, 97, 459 P.2d 633 (1969). 

In P.U.D. No.2 v. State Power Comm., 46 Wn.2d 233,234,280 P.2d 

264 (1955), the Washington Supreme Court, sitting en bane, compared the 

authority of the Washington State Power Commission ("WSPC") and that 

of PUDs and found that the WSPC did not have the power to supersede 

PUDs in pending projects or to impair their existing rights therein. P. U.D. 

No.2, 46 Wn.2d at 234. In support, the Court quoted, in part, RCW 

4.53.450: 
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The provisions of this act shall be cumulative and shall 
not impair or supersede the powers or rights of any 
person, firm or corporation or political subdivision of 
the state ofWashington under any other law ... 

Id. 	(emphasis added). 

The Court concluded that "[a] public utility district is, of course, a 

political subdivision of the state within the contemplation of the act." Id. 

Notably, in the statutory context of "any person, firm or corporation or 

political subdivision," the Washington Supreme Court found that a PUD 

was a political subdivision. As a result, a PUD is a municipal corporation 

and it is also a political subdivision of the State. 

3. 	 Applying RCW 76.04.495 to municipal corporations reguires 
the establishment of lien rights in public property -- a result 
disallowed under Washington law 

DNR's enforcement mechanism under RCW 76.04.495 is the creation 

of a lien against the property of the negligent "person, firm, or 

corporation." This lien right, employing the term "shall," is mandatory. Cf. 

Emwright v. King Cy., 96 Wn.2d 538, 544, 637 P.2d 656 (1981) ("shall" in 

a statute is imperative). 

The Washington Supreme Court has long held that public property is 

not subject to liens. Hazelwood v. Bremerton, 137 Wn. App. 872, 884, 155 

P.3d 952 (2007) (quoting Hall & Olswang v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 161 

Wash. 38,47,296 P. 162 (1931)). "Our Supreme Court has held, without 
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exception, that public property is not subject to any lien." /d. "Washington 

courts continue to follow this precedent." Id. (citing Hewson Constr., Inc. 

v. Reintree Corp., 101 Wn.2d 819, 828-29, 685 P.2d 1062 (1984); 3A 

Indus., Inc. v. Turner Constr. Co., 71 Wn. App. 407, 411, 869 P.2d 65 

(1993); and Farwest Steel Corp. v. Mainline Metal Works, Inc., 48 Wn. 

App. 719, 729, 741 P.2d 58 (1987). 

"The Legislature is presumed to know the law in the area in which it 

is legislating, and statutes will not be construed in derogation of the 

common law absent express legislative intent to change the law." Wynn v. 

Earwin, 163 Wn.2d 361, 371, 181 P.3d 806 (2008). 

Regarding RCW 76.04.495, it is presumed that the Legislature knew 

that public property cannot be subject to a lien. Further, the Legislature 

articulated no intent to change Washington lien law within RCW 76.04 et 

seq. 

As a lien cannot be had against public property and as the 

enforcement mechanism within RCW 76.04.495(2) is a lien "against any 

property of the person, firm, or corporation liable under subsection (1) of 

this section," it is reasonable to interpret the phrase "person, firm, or 

corporation" as used in RCW 76.04.495(1) and RCW 76.04.495(2) as not 

including a municipal corporation, since to interpret the phrase otherwise 
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would be to create a new right to place a lien on public property, 

something never before authorized under Washington law. 

4. 	 The use of differing terms within RCW 76.04 indicates a 
legislative intent to not include municipal cotporations under 
RCW 76.04.495

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