FEB 18 2014

COUNT OF APPLALS LIPVES N III STAIF OF WASHINGTON

NO. 31853-2

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES,

Respondent.

v.

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KLICKITAT COUNTY,

Appellant,

RESPONSE BRIEF OF STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General MICHAEL J. ROLLINGER Senior Counsel WSBA No. 10578 1125 Washington Street SE P.O. Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 664-8519

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Plain Meaning of the Fire Cost Recovery Statute Is That the Legislature Intended the Cost Recovery Provisions to Apply to the KPUD, as a Municipal Corporation, for Negligently Caused Fires.

When the fire cost recovery statute is read in conjunction with the rest of the Forest Protection Act, there can be no doubt the Legislature intended that the entire Act, including the fire cost recovery statute, applies to municipal corporations. The primary purpose of the Forest Protection Act is to protect, through prevention and suppression, private and public forest lands from damages caused by uncontrolled forest fires. *See* RCW 76.04, in general, and RCW 76.04.015-.035, .075-.167, in particular. Forest wild fires threaten public health and safety and can cause catastrophic damage to public and private resources. RCW 76.04.167(1)(a). Forest landowners and the public have an interest in protecting forests and forest resources by preventing and suppressing forest wild fires. RCW 76.04.167(1)(b).

Simply put, the underlying purposes of the Forest Protection Act are achievable only if the Act applies to municipal corporations, and by inference, all state agencies and political subdivisions. Although KPUD attempts to limit its argument to the inapplicability of the fire cost recovery statute to municipal corporations, those same arguments would also apply to state agencies and other political subdivisions. If the term

"any person" in the cost recovery statute does not include municipal corporations, state agencies and other political subdivisions would also be excluded from the term. Public corporations, like private corporations, have the capacity to prevent or negligently start forest fires. If prevention fails, the fire cost recovery statute is intended to hold all public and private corporations accountable for the costs to suppress fires resulting from their negligence.

1. The Plain Meaning of the Fire Cost Recovery Statute Is Analyzed in the Context of the Fire Protection Act as a Whole and Other Related Statutes.

The court's objective when interpreting a statute is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent. *Jongeward*, 174 Wn.2d at 592 (citing *Dep't of Ecology*, 146 Wn.2d at 9). If a statute's meaning is plain on its face, courts must give effect to that plain meaning. *Jongeward*, 174 Wn.2d at 592. The plain meaning is discerned from all that the Legislature has said in the statute. *Id.* Plain meaning may also be

³ Unless otherwise indicated, public corporations and municipal corporations are used interchangeably in this response brief. DNR requests the Court take judicial notice of the forest fires caused by utilities. The instant case is but one example of the forest land damages caused by utilities because of their failure to properly remove hazard trees in close proximity to their power lines. Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) (Background facts of which judicial notice can be taken are properly considered as part of the statute's context because presumably the Legislature also was familiar with them when it passed the statute.).

discerned from related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question. *Id.* An examination of related statutes aids the plain meaning analysis because legislatures enact legislation in light of existing statutes. *Id.*

Statutory provisions must be read in their entirety and construed together, not by piecemeal. *Dep't of Ecology*, 146 Wn.2d at 11. Under the plain meaning rule, a court should:

construe and apply words according to the meaning that they are ordinarily given, taking into account the statutory context, basic rules of grammar, and any special usages stated by the legislature on the face of the statute.

- Id. So defined, the plain meaning rule requires courts to consider legislative purposes or policies appearing on the face of the statute as part of the statute's context. Id.
 - 2. The Legislature Intended to Make Municipal Corporations Liable to the State for Fire Suppression Expenses Resulting From Fires Negligently Caused by Such Corporations.

As the trial court correctly concluded in denying KPUD's CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, municipal corporations such as KPUD are subject to the fire cost recovery statute based upon the plain meaning of RCW 76.04.495(1) and RCW 1.16.080(1), the pertinent parts of which are cited below.

RCW 76.04.495(1)

Any person, firm, or corporation: (a) Whose negligence is responsible for the starting or existence of a fire which spreads on forest land . . . shall be liable for any reasonable expenses made necessary by (a) . . . of this subsection.

RCW 1.16.080(1)

The term "person" may be construed to include the United States, this state, or any state or territory, or any public or private corporation or limited liability company, as well as an individual.

The fire cost recovery statute has existed in substantially the same form since 1923 without a successful challenge in 90 years.⁴ In the absence of a definition for "person" within the Forest Protection Act and the use of the all-inclusive term "any" preceding "person," it is appropriate to apply the RCW 1.16.080 definition of "person" as a related statute to give meaning and effect to "person" wherever that term appears in the Act. There is nothing in the Act, including the fire cost recovery statute, to indicate the Legislature intended to limit its application to only private or natural persons and private corporations.

"Person" is defined in statute as a term that may be construed to include the state or any public or private corporation, as well as an individual." RCW 1.16.080(1). This definition of "person" should be construed to include any public corporation when the nature and the

⁴ Laws of 1923, ch. 184, § 11; Rem. Rev. Stat. § 5806-1 was later codified as RCW 76.04.390 and currently exists as RCW 76.04.495.

purpose of the statute indicate the Legislature's intent to do so. Segaline v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 169 Wn.2d 467, 474, 238 P.3d 1107 (2010). Here, there is clear legislative intent to make municipal corporations subject to the Forest Protection Act in general, and the fire cost recovery statute in particular. If the Legislature had intended to exempt municipal corporations or any other governmental entities from the Forest Protection Act, it could easily have done so in the Act itself. Segaline, 169 Wn.2d at 483. The Legislature did not make such an exception for any public entity.

The Legislature is presumed to know the general definition of "person" under RCW 1.16.080. Gontmakher v. City of Bellevue, 120 Wn. App. 365, 371, 85 P.3d 926 (2004) ("city" is a "person" under RCW 4.24.510, a statute that gives immunity from civil liability to persons who provide information to a governmental entity). If the Legislature intended to employ a limited definition of "person," the normal and expected practice would be for it to expressly do so. Id. As in Gontmakher, there is no evidence that the Legislature intended to exclude municipal corporations and other public entities from liability under the fire cost recovery statute.

In denying KPUD's motion to dismiss, the trial court noted:

Contrary to PUD's assertion, in my opinion, there's no authority to support the contention that the legislature intended to carve out special political subdivisions from negligence claims for fire suppression... The plain meaning of the statutes [RCW 76.04.495 and RCW 1.16.080], then, read together, in my view, compel this result.

VRP at 7, lines 8-12, 17-18.

The Court could also find the Legislature intended for the term "any corporation" to include both public and private corporations, absent any legislative expression to limit the term to private corporations. When the Legislature wanted to limit corporations to "private corporations" in the context of the Forest Protection Act, it knew how to do so. *See* RCW 76.04.105-.125. "The department may enter into contracts and undertakings with *private corporations* for the protection and development of the forest lands within the state, subject to the provisions of this chapter." (Emphasis added.) RCW 76.04.105. Municipal corporations arguably fall under the broad term any "person" as well as the unqualified term any "corporation." The superior court thus properly denied KPUD's 12(b)(6) motion.

///

111

3. The Fire Cost Recovery Statute Does Not Require, But Allows, DNR to Have a Lien Against Private Property as an Enforcement Option.

KPUD's arguments regarding the interpretation of the fire cost recovery statute are based on the notion that the statute should be strictly construed because it is a lien statute. This result-oriented analysis is based on a false premise. The statute is not a lien statute; it is a cost recovery statute. The statute authorizes liens as one remedy to be used only in the appropriate situation. DNR does not argue that liens are an appropriate remedy against public corporations.

Because public property is not subject to a lien and the lien portion of the fire cost recovery statute is "the enforcement mechanism" for the cost recovery, KPUD argues it cannot, as a public entity, ever be a liable party under the statute. Appellant's Br. at 1, 14-15. This argument is tenuous at best, arbitrarily limiting fire suppression recovery by a factor entirely unrelated to a party's liability, i.e., the fact that the liable party owns public property. KPUD's reasoning is flawed. RCW 76.04.495(2) of the fire cost recovery statute allows, but does not compel, DNR to file a lien for its fire suppression and investigative expenses against property of the person, firm, or corporation liable under the statute:

The department or agency incurring such expense shall have a lien for the same against any property of the person, firm, or corporation liable under subsection (1) of this

section by filing a claim of lien naming the person, firm, or corporation, describing the property against which the lien is claimed No claim of lien is valid unless filed, with the county auditor of the county in which the property sought to be charged is located, within a period of ninety days after the expenses of the claimant are incurred. . . .

RCW 76.04.495(2).

RCW 76.04.495(1) and (2) must be read in their entirety and in harmony. RCW 76.04.495(1) identifies who is potentially liable for a fire cost recovery action, and (2) provides DNR with discretionary authority to file a lien to facilitate DNR's ability to collect such costs from the liable party. Here, the term "shall" in the lien portion of the fire cost recovery statute does not require DNR to claim a lien on property in order to recover its fire cost suppression expenses as KPUD argues. *See, e.g., State v. Krall*, 125 Wn.2d 146, 148, 881 P.2d 1040 (1994) ("In determining the meaning of the word "shall" we traditionally have considered the legislative intent as evidenced by all the terms and provisions of the act in relation to the subject of the legislation, the nature of the act, the general object to be accomplished and consequences that would result from construing the particular statute in one way or another").

The lien portion of the cost recovery statute is not "a mandatory enforcement mechanism" that DNR must use, as KPUD contends, but is simply an option for DNR to use at its discretion. The language of the

statute "shall have a lien for the same against any property of the person, firm, or corporation liable under subsection (1) of this section" is followed by the condition that "[n]o claim of lien is valid unless filed, with the county auditor of the county in which the property sought to be charged is located" If the State was required to file a lien as its sole enforcement mechanism for fire cost recovery under the statute, DNR would be required to complete its investigation, identify the liable party or parties, and know the amount of costs incurred within 90 days of incurring such costs – impractical requirements for large fires. The State would also have to force a sale of the liable party's property, probably at a significant discount, in order to recover its costs in whole or in part. DNR prefers to pursue direct payment from the liable party and its insurer when there is one. When construed together, the two subsections of the statute provide DNR with an option to claim a lien on private property of parties liable under the statute.

The fire cost recovery statute is not the only provision of the Forest Protection Act that allows DNR to claim a lien on the land of a "person." Under RCW 76.04.660(5), a person responsible for the existence of an extreme fire hazard is required to abate, isolate, or reduce the hazard. If the person fails to do so, DNR may abate, isolate, or reduce the hazard, recover twice the actual cost thereof from the responsible person and "[a]ll such

costs shall also be a lien upon the land enforceable in the same manner with the same effect as a mechanic's lien." RCW 76.04.660(6), (7). Following KPUD's logic, KPUD could never be responsible for the existence of an extreme fire hazard, nor could it be required to abate the hazard. According to the KPUD, the term "person" must exclude municipal corporations because the statute requires a lien upon the land of a "person" who fails to meet the regulatory requirements and DNR cannot claim a lien on public land.

KPUD's statutory analysis is inapposite to the purposes of the Forest Protection Act and its cost recovery provisions. For example, KPUD argues that the Legislature's specific exclusion of public entities from the lien mechanism in RCW 76.04.610 indicates intent to exclude public entities from accountability under the fire cost recovery statute. Appellant's Br. at 17. The referenced statute requires any non-federal forest landowner, private or public, that neglects or fails to provide adequate fire protection as required by statute, to pay a forest fire protection assessment. RCW 76.04.610(1). The statute goes on to read that unpaid assessments by non-federal public bodies are not a lien against the non-federal publicly owned land. RCW 76.04.610(7). The referenced statute makes public bodies responsible for costs of fire suppression incurred by the State if the public body fails to pay the forest protection assessment and fails to suppress

a fire on or originating from forest lands owned or administered by the public body. RCW 76.04.610(8). Contrary to the KPUD argument, this statute expresses a legislative intent to hold public bodies accountable to the State for fire suppression costs incurred by the State, regardless of fault, if the public body fails to pay the assessment and fails to suppress a fire on or originating from forest lands owned or administered by the public body. The statute reinforces, and is consistent with, the legislative intent to make the fire cost recovery statute applicable to public bodies, including municipal corporations.

Another result contrary to the Act's purposes is apparent when KPUD's logic is applied to RCW 76.04.750, which requires any "person" engaged in any activity on land where a fire threatens forest land through uncontrolled burning to take action to prevent the spread of the fire regardless of where the fire originates. The statute provides that if the person fails to make a reasonable effort to suppress the fire, DNR is required to suppress the fire and the "cost of the work shall also constitute a lien upon the real property or chattels under the person's ownership." Again, following KPUD's logic, a municipal corporation would have no obligation to prevent the spread of such an uncontrolled fire because DNR could not claim a lien on the real property or chattels of a municipal corporation. In reviewing the various lien provisions of the Forest Protection Act, it is

readily apparent the Legislature never intended to allow municipal corporations and other public entities to escape the requirements of the Act by authorizing liens against [private] property that is subject to a lien.

B. The Legislature Intended the Forest Protection Act as a Whole, Including the Fire Cost Recovery Statute, to Apply to Municipal Corporations.

The Forest Protection Act applies to all public or private forest land in the state.⁵ RCW 76.04.005(9), (10). DNR is required to "[i]nvestigate the origin and cause of *all forest fires* to determine whether either a criminal act or negligence by *any person, firm, or corporation* caused the starting, spreading, or existence of the fire." (Emphasis added.) RCW 76.04.015(3)(c)(i). The requirement for DNR to investigate "all forest fires" necessarily includes those negligently started by municipal corporations. Otherwise, these public entities would escape accountability. The Legislature did not limit or qualify the nature or type of corporation DNR is required to investigate for negligently caused fires. To the contrary, the Legislature used the all-inclusive word "any" preceding "person, firm, or corporation."

The term "person" or "person, firm, or corporation" is used throughout RCW 76.04 without further qualification or definition, yet

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